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1. Name

historic

Saxtons River Village Historic District

andor common same

2. Location

Principally along Main, Westminster, River, Maple,

street & number Qgk, Pleasant, School, and Grove Streets and N/A_ not for publication
Academy Avenue
city, town  ca-tons River N /LA vicinity of
state Vermont code 50 county  Windham code 025
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_x_ district —__ public _x__occupied ____ agriculture _____ museum
— building(s) __ private —__ unoccupied _x_ commercial - park
— . structure —x_both —_work in progress _x_ educational —x%_ private residence
—_site Public Acquisition Accessible - entertainment X religious
—__ object N/A— in process ___yes: restricted X _government ____scientific
____ being considered —X. yes: unrestricted _X%_ industrial _x _transportation
—__no —_ military —___other:

4. Owner of Property

nameé Muyltiple ownerships; see continuation sheets.

street & number

city, town — vicinity of state

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Gffice of the Town Clerk

street & number The Scuare

city, town Bellcws Falls state Vermont 051C1

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title has this property been determined eligible? ____yes _x no

none

date N/A __ federal ___ state ___county ___local

depository for survey records N/A

city, town N/A state N/A




7. Description

Condition . i/} Check one Check one

—X excellent _deteriorated __x_ unaltered __x. original site : ,

_X good . ___ruins _x_altered _X moved date #17, #33A, #41, #42, #107, #78
_x fair - ____unexposed (See Description of Individual

Buildings.)

Descr{ibev tll"\ei_"'ﬁr‘esent and original (if known) physical appearance

Situated along the river of the same name, the Saxtons River Village Historic
District coincides with the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century extent of Saxtons
River village. The village center lies on the north side of the river with a roughly
parallel Main Street intersected by eight side streets.. Some 155 principal buildings,
structures, and sites exist in the historic district, of which 22 are noncontributing
to its historic character. The architectural styles present range from the Federal
through the Greek Revival, Italianate Revival, and Queen Anne to the Colonial Revival,
although only a handful of buildings exhibit high-style characteristics. The village
consists overwhelmingly of wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed residential
buildings of domestic scale interspersed with a few commercial, industrial, religious,
and other buildings of similar scale and appearance. The historic district retains a
comparatively high degree of historic integrity, having only a small number of modern
intrusions.

The Saxtons River Village Historic District encompasses virtually the entire
village apart from peripheral middle twentieth-century subdivisions. Focused on the
so-called Middle Falls near the business center, the village flanks Saxtons River for
a distance of about one mile. The river descends some 60 feet along this reach while
flowing in an easterly direction. A forested ridge ascends about 1000 feet above the
village to the south-southeast and lower hills rise to the north and west.

The village center occupies a relatively flat area along the north side of the
river's curving course. About one-quarter mile north of the river, an abrupt
embankment leads to a higher terrace that is both physically and visually distinct.

A private secondary school by the name of Vermont Academy occupies this terrace with
a complex of several predominantly twentieth-century buildings; this complex is
excluded from the historic district. South of the river, the Westminster Street
residential area lies on a similar terrace. A second private educational institution,
New England Kurn Hattin Homes, has been developed here mostly during the present
century, and is also excluded from the historic district.

The principal axis, Main Street and its Upper Main Street continuation, extends
about three—-quarters of a mile within the historic district following a generally
east-west alignment. Tive perpendicular streets intersect the north side of Main
Street - Oak and Pleasant Streets, Academy Avenue, and School and Grove Streets,
respectively from east to west. Along the opposite side, the principal Westminster
Street leads southward across the river while River and Maple Streets form roughly
semicircular loops that approach the river. The village lacks a public green
although a small circular island of lawn survives within the enlarged intersection
of Main and Westminster Streets. The streets are partly shaded by a dwindling
number of scattered deciduous trees, mostly maples and elms remnant of the arbored
streetscapes that reached their most luxuriant early this century.

A modest business core occurs along Main Street between Westminster Street and
Academy Avenue. Even here, however, houses are interspersed among the commercial
buildings. The streets north of Main Street serve almost exclusively residential
areas. To the south, River and Maple Streets were formerly the locations of water-
powered industrial development along the river but those activities and most of their



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

. ___prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric .___ community planning ___ landscape architecture_____ religion
. 1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic --— conservation — law ____science
__1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___. economics —_._ literature —— sculpture
—__1600-1699 _x__ architecture .. education -— military - social/
_ X1700-1799 ___art ... engineering ——_ music humanitarian
_ _x 1800-1899 _____ commerce . exploration/settlement ____ philosophy —theater
—_ x 1900 ____communications ~X_ industry ____ politics/government __ transportation

-—. invention _other (specify)

Specific dates N/A . ‘ Builder/Architect N/A

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Saxtons River Village Historic District possesses the distinctive
characteristics of a small rural Vermont village that developed during the nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries. The village comprises the typical residential,
commercial, industrial, and public buildings arrayed along its namesake river that
provided the water power to attract and sustain settlement. Most of these buildings
display vernacular expressions of the architectural styles prevailing in Vermont
during the period of the village's gradual development. The Greek Revival,

Italianate Revival, and Queen Anne appear also in high-style residential interpreta-
tions, reflecting the financial success of certain village entrepreneurs. The village
was dominated economically during the nineteenth century by a woolen mill whose active
role was extinguished in the 1930s by economic factors and fire, thereby corresponding
to the industrial experience of several other Vermont villages.

Settlement commenced in 1783 on the site of what became Saxtons River village.
Initially oriented toward agriculture, it proceeded slowly during the remainder of
the eighteenth century; according to one early settler, there were only two houses
by 1795. Probably the earliest extant house (#143) in the historic district was built
.about that time on the terrace south of the Saxtons River (and present village center),
where other houses soon appeared.

By 1807, settlement of the vicinity had reached the extent that the residents
began to plan the construction of their own non-sectarian meetinghouse. Simeon
Aldrich donated a plot of land for the purpose near his house just south of the river.
Roswell Bellows was awarded the contract, and the building was erected in 1809-10.

It would become known as the 01d South Meetinghouse to distinguish it from the meet-
inghouse built in 1787 at Rockingham village four miles to the north (see the
National Register nomination for the Rockingham Meetinghouse, entered in the National
Register on September 10, 1979). A burying-ground, now the Saxtons River Cemetery
(#135), was established behind the meetinghouse, the ground being leveled by a
community work-bee in June, 1810. The meetinghouse was dedicated in August of the
same year; Baptists, Congregationalists, and Universalists would share its use for

a quarter-century.

A principal attraction for the settlement of Saxtons River village was the
water power readily available at three sites along a half-mile stretch of the river.
The so-called Middle Falls offered an abrupt twenty-foot drop, and the first grist-
mill and sawmill were probably built here (just down stream of the present Westminster
Street bridge, #131). The first woolen mill was built in 1815 at the Lower Falls
site, apparently for the brothers Nathan, Leonard, and Carter Whitcomb who came from
Swanzey, New Hampshire. This mill lasted only eight years before being destroyed
by fire but a second would soon follow.



9. Najor Bibliographical References

See continuation sheets.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 270%
Quadrangle name __Saxtons River, Vt. Quadrangle scale 1:62500
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Yerbal boundary description and justification

See continuation sheets.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code county code

state code county ) code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Hueh B. Henrv

organization pisroric Preservation Consultant date  August 1986
street & number Green Mountain Turnpike telephone 802-875-3379
city or town Chester state  Vermont 05143

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification
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1. Saxtons River Historical Society 12. Thomas and Elaine M. Bowen
c¢/o Mary Pollard Box 207
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont
2. Incorporated Village of 13. John F.
Saxtons River Box 102
P.0. Box 243 Saxtons River, Vermont
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
t4. Barbara Campbell
3. Leon J. Rogenski Box 53
15 Williams Street Saxtons River, Vermont
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Main Street Grove Street
Saxtons River, Vermont (05154 Saxtons River, Vermont
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Saxtons River,
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23. Patricia Cook 34. James and Deborah Walsh
Cambridge, New York 12816 P.0. Box 22
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
24. Tenney's Lumber Mill, Inc.
P.O. Box 478 35. Continental Telephone of Vermont
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.0. Box 401
Merrifeild, VA 22116
25. Karen Lanterman
Mary Hepburn 36. Walter and Virginia C. Truslow
Pleasant Street Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
26, A & B Associates 37. SRI, Inc.
Reese Circle P.0. Box 434
Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
27. Paul and Louise M. Dowling 38. Dorothy A. Knowlton
School Street Academy Avenue
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
28. Randall and Nancy Billmeier 39. Dorothy A. Knowlton
School Street Academy Avenue
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
29. Ronald E. and Deborah J. Clace 40. Ralph and Stella Severens
School Street Ext. Academy Avenue
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
30. William R. & Bernadette Bryant 41. Andrew L. Toepfer
School Street Laurie Indenbaum
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Academy Avenue
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
31. Town of Rockingham
P.0O. Box 370 42. Laurie Indenbaum
Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101 Box 67
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
32. Stephen Moore
Saxtons River Road 43. Gregory D. and Karen D. Whitman
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.0O. Box 667
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
33. Phillip H. and Helen B. Frey
School Street 44. Vermont Academy

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

P.0. Box 500
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
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45. Vermont Academy 56. Robert M. and Mary E. Campbell

P.0. Box 500 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
46. Falco and Lorna Shilling 57. Mary Bruce and Donald Adams

P.0. Box 727 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
47. Jane M. Brodine 58. Bruce H. and Dorothy A. Bowen

Academy Avenue P.O. Box 728

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
48. Lawrin P. Crispe 59. Leo F. and Barbara J. Sprague

Meeting House Lane P.0. Box 96

Brattleboro, Vermont 05301 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
49. Neil J. Joseph 60. Vermont Academy

P.0O. Box 538 P.0. Box 500

Putney, Vermont 05346 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
50. Rockingham Family Practice 61. Vermont Academy

Hospital Court P.0. Box 500

Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
51. Andrew W. and Dorothy M. Wind 62. Raymond G. and Roena R. Longley

Main Street P.0. Box 333

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
52. Francis D. Crane Estate 63. Raymond and Margaret Nichols

P.0. Box 187 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
53. Joseph and Hanna C. Steiner 64. Lawrence E. Wolcott, III and

P.O. Box 187 Sandra S. Wolcott

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

54. Mary Hepburn

Pleasant Street 65. Andrew W. and Dorothty M. Wind

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

55. James Reilly

Pleasant Street 66. George D. & Alice E. Van Schaick

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
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67. Warren H. and Jean S. Chivers 78. Lawrence W. and Sara A. Rice

Pleasant Street P.O. Box 73

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
68. Edgar D. and Katherine S. Frey 79. Ray E. and Olive A. Griffin

P.0. Box 411 Pleasant Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont (05154
69. M. Elizabeth Simonds Estate 80. Fred J. and Muriel R. Brown

RFD 3 Pleasant Street

Putney, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
70. John S. And Susie A. Peters 81. Bert and Irene A. Wright

Pleasant Street Box 154

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
71. Leslie C. and Marion H. Howe 82. Desire J. & Ruth F. Millette, Jr

Pleasant Street P.0O. Box 284

Saxtons River, Vermont 95154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
72. William S. and Louise F. Luring 83. Barbara Bailey

P.O. Box 444 7 East Avenue

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Lisbon Falls, Maine 04252
73. Urbina M. LeBel 84. Robert D. and Mary Ellen Warner

Hatfield Lane Main Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
74. Dorothy and Alvin Hass 85. David A. and Donna J. Saunders

Box 462 Main Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
75. John E. and Jane C. Cook 86. Barbara A. Parant

Pleasant Street P.O0. Box 69

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
76. John and Karen Lanterman 87. Fred and Margaret Bushmann

Pleasant Street P.0. Box 434

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Bellows Falls, Vermont 05154
77. Philip P. and Mae B. Morrison 88. Thomas W. and Susan E. Laware

Pleasant Street Oak Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
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89. Raymond H. Moore Estate 100. Saxtons River Inn Group
Oak Street, Box 207 Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
90. Margaret N. Dolloph 101. Kathleen Marie Mortensen
Oak Street P.0O. Box 645
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
91. Lawrin P. Crispe 102. William J. MacInnis
114 Main Street Wilma Skovinski
Brattleboro, Vermont 05301 Box 41
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
92. Kenneth E. & Constance P. Osgood
Main Street 103. Lawrin P. Crispe
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.0O. Box 556
Brattleboro, Vermont 05301
93. Charles Wood
Main Street 104. Lawrin P. Crispe
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.O. Box 556
Brattleboro, Vermont 05301
94. David P. and Ruth B. Wells
Box 25, Maple Street 105. Lawrin P. Crispe
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.0. Box 556
Brattleboro, Vermont 05301
95. Hazel A. Burgess
Main Street 106. Arthur D. and Martha S. Smith
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 River Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
96. St. Edmund of Canterbury Church
Main Street 107. Ada Simonds
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Box 293, River Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
97. Christ Church
P.0. Box 649 108. Lyman And Maxine Fletcher
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 D. Boyd
10 Underhill Avenue
98. Saxtons River Inn Group Bellows Falls, Vermont 05154
Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 109. Kenneth and Lisa Lawrence
P.0. Box 677
99. Saxtons River Inn Group Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont (05154 110. Fred C. H. and Lona N. Frappiea

River Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
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113.

114.

115.

116.

117.

118.

120.

121.

George F. and Barbara Frappiea
River Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Marvin and Pam Rabin

P.0. Box 43
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Alice L. Packard

Maple Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Alfred C. & Christabel M. Pennock
Maple Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
David P. and Ruth B. Wells
Box 25, Maple Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

LeRoy D. and Marilyn Simonds, Jr.
River Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Carroll G. and Mary J. Kinney
Box 146

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Charles A. and Ethalene P. Parant

Judity Rooney
P.O. Box 65
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Larwin P. Crispe
114 Main Street
Brattleboro, Vermont 05301
Incorporated Village of
Saxtons River
P.0O. Box 243
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Bert and Irene Wright
Box 154
Saxtons River,

Vermont 05154

122.

123.

124.

125.

126.

127.

128.

129.

130.

131.

132.

David P. and Ruth B. Wells
Box 25, Maple Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Incorporated Village of
Saxtons River
P.0. Box 243
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Lawrin P. Crispe
114 Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Arthur and Sherry A. Smith, Jr.
Box 127
Saxtons River,

Vermont 05154

LeRoy D. and Mildred L. Simonds
River Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Richard J. & Catherine J. Steele
Box 2
Cambridgeport, Vermont 05141
Incorporated Village of

Saxtons River
P.0. Box 243
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154

Bernard W. and Bertha F. King

RR 1, Box 228

Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101
Sandri Realty

Box 760

Greenfield, MA 01302

Town of Rockingham

P.0. Box 370

Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101

John E.
Box 112
Saxtons River,

and Deborah Williams

Vermont 05154
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133. John Williams 144.
Box 112

Mary Jane Bosworth
Westminster Street

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
134. Town of Rockingham 145. Alfred J. & Pearl A. Leonard, Jr
P.0. Box 370 P.0. Box 717
Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
135. Town of Rockingham 146. Gerald and Constance E. Kelton
P.0. Box 370 Clark Court
Bellows Falls, Vermont 05101 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
136. John H. and Emily W. Lucy 147. Rich Long
P.O0. Box 546 Clark Court
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
137. Mark J. and Jean F. Leonardi 148. Christ Church
Westminster Street P.0O. Box 649
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
138. Blanche J. Sheehan 149. Madlyn Hotaling
Westminster Street Westminster Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
139. James and Susan C. Frey 150. Robert G. Thomson
Westminster Street Averill C. Larsen
Saxtons River, Vermont (05154 Main Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
140. New England Kurn Hattin Homes
Westminster, Vermont 05158 151. Selma C. Lake
Westminster Street
141. Richard E. Barnes Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Westminster Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 152. Lee C. and Barbara S. Twombley
Box 305
142. John H. and Muriel Rice, Jr. Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
Westminster Street
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 153. Nelson R. and Marion E. Riendeau
Westminster Street
143. Clarence B., Kenneth A. and Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
David M. Goyette
Westminster Street 154. Tenney's Lumber Mill, Inc.
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154 P.0. Box 478
Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
155. Tenney's Lumber Mill, Inc.

P.O. Box 478

Saxtons River, Vermont 05154
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buildings have disappeared. One small industry, a sawmill (#154), survives on
its riverside site next to Westminster Street while the remainder of that
street traverses a residential area.

The detached buildings occupy individual lots that generally provide both
limited front and somewhat larger side yards. The facade lines are somewhat
irregular; only along two short stretches of Main Street are there uniform
ranks among the small number of commercial buildings. The residential
buildings are sited with variation of set back that ranges from informally
landscaped front grounds of moderate depth to the nearly curbside pattern of
River Street.

There exists within the boundary of the historic district a total of 155
principal buildings, structures, and sites. Among these, 22 are considered
noncontributing to the character of the historic district. Additionally, a
substantial number of outbuildings - principally sheds and carriage barns -
complement the principal entities. Two sets of foundations represent extinct
mills along the river; one (#120), of the former woolen mill on Maple Street,
has been adapted to a public recreation area.

Residential buildings of one-and-one-half or two-and-one-half stories
constitute the overwhelming majority within the historic district. Single-
family houses account for most of this type although a significant minority
exists of historic tenements and originally single-family houses more recently
adapted to apartments. Many houses possess sheds and carriage barns, often in
connected series, that formerly sheltered both horses and domestic livestock.
The small group of about a dozen commercial buildings exceeds a smaller number
of industrial buildings, and they share only slightly larger scale than the
residential buildings around them. Individual examples of religious,
educational, and other public buildings are interspersed. Certain originally
industrial or commercial buildings have been adapted to different, usually
residential usage.

A limited variety of architectural styles is represented in the historic
district. The Greek Revival and Colonial Revival styles appear with the
greatest frequency albeit usually in vernacular expressions. A significant
subset of five Greek Revival houses (#56, 67, 84, 92, and 100) exhibit a
temple front with tetrastyle portico, carried in two conspicuous cases (#56
and 100) to the height of a two-story portico (but lacking a colossal order).
High-style representatives also exist of the Italianate Revival (#52 and 122)
and Queen Anne (#9) although there are fewer vernacular examples of such. The
latter style, however, is appended to numerous older buildings in the form of
porches and other decorative features. The Federal Style is expressed mostly
by the sparse brick residential architecture (specifically #11, 36, 82, and
115) of the village.
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Only a scattered few buildings in the historic district are not wood-
framed and now or formerly sheathed with clapboards. Synthetic siding
materials have been applied in an increasing number of cases, the contemporary
metal and vinyl versions having outstripped in frequency the earlier asbestos
shingles. An unusually small proportion of the village's historic building
stock is constructed of brick, there being only seven examples among the
total. Slate is the dominant historic material used as roof sheathing while
stamped metal appears to a limited extent.

The high proportion of classically-derived designs has yielded a
predominantly monochromatic (white) color treatment among the village's
buildings. The same treatment has been frequently applied to examples of the
decorated styles. The Italianate Revival buildings - notably the imposing
John Alexander House (#122) on Maple Street - display the most polychromatic
paint schemes while the Queen Anne representatives largely lack that
appropriate multi-color array.

Generally the buildings in the historic district are being maintained in
adequate or better condition. In some cases, however, the application of
synthetic siding has concealed (if not removed) important stylistic elements
along with the original sheathing. The abrupt rise in energy costs during the
past decade has caused the installation of numerous alternative heating
systems, and several cases exist of modern exterior chimneys added to the
public facades of buildings. The increasing traffic especially on Main Street
(Vermont Route 121) makes porches less attractive for their intended purpose,
and that has undoubtedly influenced the removal of same from several houses.

A group of eight buildings in the historic district wears the uniform
coat of white relieved only by black shutters. These buildings (#48, 91, 103-
105, 119, 124, and 124A) were rehabilitated in 1981-82 under the so-called
Section 8 program sponsored by the Department of Housing and Urban
Development. Prior to the project, the buildings were generally declining in
condition and appearance. The rehabilitation succeeded in restoring them to
good physical condition but at the cost of altering their historic fabric to
varying degrees.

Two other highly visible projects have involved major historic buildings
at the center of the village. In 1974, the largest commercial building, the
Saxtons River Inn (#37), was rehabilitated from deteriorating condition and
reopened in its original use. A decade later, the village's only brick
commercial block, the Italianate Revival storefront (#51) across Academy
Avenue from the inn, received a sympathetic rehabilitation and was reopened as
a market. These efforts are symbolic of pervasive improvements in the
condition and appearance of village buildings during recent years.
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Descriptions follow of the buildings and structures in the historic district;
numbers refer to the accompanying sketch map.

1. Congregational Church (Main Street); 1836, 1871

Forming the western visual terminus of Main Street, the Congregational
Church stands at the intersection of that street, its Upper Main Street
extension, and Westminster Street. The present appearance of the building
reflects several latter nineteenth-century alterations. The church was
constructed in 1836 as a one-story building. In 1871, the building was raised
several feet and the ground-level vestry was added. The present tower was
erected at the same time, and a bell was hung in the early 1890s. The stained
glass windows and the pipe organ were installed in 1900 during a project of
extensive repairs and refurnishing.

The wood-framed and clapboarded, gable-roofed original block retains its
Greek Revival temple form and related stylistic features. The original corner
boards ascend from molded bases atop the wider corner boards of the added
first story to capitals supporting the molded cornice. The roof is shingled
with slate of mixed reddish and gray colors. An interior end chimney with
corbeled cap surmounts the west gable. The granite foundation has been partly
rebuilt with concrete blocks. ‘

The three-bay main (east) gable facade is arranged symmetrically around
the central entrance consisting of double-leaf doors, each of four molded
panels, with an architrave surround and denticulated entablature. The
flanking bays are occupied by fifteen-over-fifteen sash with textured
monochromatic stained glass, architrave surrounds, and molded lintels. The
second-story windows contain polychromatic stained glass within identical
surrounds. Two smaller side-bay windows flank a three-part window in the
central bay with elongated middle panel. (These second-story windows replaced
the original twin entrances.) The fully pedimented gable contrasts
with the lower wall surface by its sheathing of horizontal flush boards. A
triangular louver is centered on the tympanum.

Recessed somewhat from the gable end, the tower straddles the ridge with
a square base stage below the slightly reduced belfry marked by a rectangular
louver on each face. Above the belfry's projecting cornice, the octagonal
transition is also delimited by a projecting cornice. The octagonal spire
tapers upward to a copper cap and ball bearing a weathervane (now lacking its
arrows). The entire tower was sheathed with synthetic siding in 1977.

The north and south eaves elevations share regular three-bay arrangements
of principal openings. The clear-glass, fifteen-over-fifteen sash on the
first story have plain surrounds and molded lintels. The taller second-story
windows consist of coupled polychromatic stained-glass panels surmounted by
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Gothic Revival pointed-arch louvers with narrow plain surrounds. On the south
elevation, a secondary entrance with a sixteen-light-over-four-panel door
occupies the left-end bay.

The Congregational and Baptist parishes in Saxtons River were federated
in 1936. Subsequently, religious usage of this building declined to its
present status of being inactive. The Saxtons River Historical Society has
adapted the vestry to a museum of local history.

2. Saxtons River Village Building (Upper Main Street); c. 1860, c. 1970

Standing immediately west of the Congregational Church and closely
parallel to the street, this vernacular wood-framed and mostly clapboarded
building with an asphalt-shingled gable roof (and exposed rafter tails) has
been altered repeatedly to accommodate a succession of uses. The one-and-one-
half story east block now contains the village's public library.

An off-center entrance with gabled canopy marks the three-bay main (north)
eaves facade, flanked by two-over-one windows with molded lintels. A gabled
dormer on the north slope has coupled small one-over-one sash. The former
central entrance on the three-bay east gable elevation has been infilled with
clapboards. The south elevation contrasts by its brick-patterned, stamped-
metal sheathing.

The two-story west block serves as the village fire station below the
second-story meeting hall. TIts four-bay north eaves facade includes a left
entrance with gabled canopy and interior bays of coupled four-over-four sash.
The west gable elevation has an overhead garage door and, on the second story,
an off-center entrance with shed canopy reached by an exterior wood stair.
Added circa 1970 to the south elevation, a one-story, concrete- block, shed-
roofed wing has a tall overhead garage door on its west front.

From 1866 until the 1890s, Abner Cunningham used part of this building
for his blacksmith shop. In 1900, the Bellows Falls and Saxtons River Street
Railway Co. purchased the building for conversion to the village trolley
station. After the demise of the trolley line in 1924, the Congregational
Church used the building for meeting rooms, and the village's public library
was opened about 1935 in the former waiting room. The Incorporated Village of
Saxtons River acquired the property in 1948, and the west half of the building
was raised to provide a first-story fire station.

3. Henry Davis House (Upper Main Street); c. 1865

Somewhat altered from its original appearance, this vernacular Italianate
Revival, two-and-one half story, wood-framed and clapboarded house of
rectangular plan carries a slate-shingled gable roof oriented perpendicular to
the street. Paneled corner pilasters with molded capitals support a
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simplified eaves entablature with attenuated modillions. The window openings
are fitted mostly with six-over-six sash below molded lintels. A shortened
center chimney surmounts the ridge.

The two-bay main (north) gable facade has been altered on the first story
by the installation of a central picture window, replacing the original two
bays of room-height, six-over-nine sash. A hip-roofed (with corrugated metal)
porch with box posts (replacing the original bracketed slotted posts) spans
the main facade in two bays and continues one bay along the east eaves
elevation to serve the main entrance. The gable of the north facade has a
small window (now blinded) with canted upper corners and paneled surround.
Some of the full-size windows on the three-bay west elevation have been
infilled with clapboards.

A recessed one-and-one-half story east ell has also been partly altered
on its four-bay north eaves front by the installation of two small hinged
windows (replacing six-over-six sash) on the right below a gabled dormer.
Attached to the ell's east gable elevation, a reduced two-bay, gable-roofed
shed wing is marked by a right entrance next to a twelve-over-twelve window.
The shed connects to a small board-and-battened, gable-roofed (with corrugated
metal) barn oriented as an ell. Double-leaf, vertically boarded doors enter
its north gable front with loft door above. Attached in turn to the barn's
east eaves elevation is a one-story, shed-roofed wing.

The house is associated with Henry Davis,its owner from the 1880s until
circa 1920.

4. Nathaniel Niles House (Upper Main Street); c. 1910

This one-and-one-half story, wood-framed and clapboarded cottage rests on
a brick foundation, its asphalt-shingled (hexagonal) gable roof oriented
parallel to the street and carrying a high interior chimney with tapered cap.
Corner boards with simple capitals support a frieze band and molded cornice at
the eaves. The window openings contain two-over-two sash.

The three-bay main (north) eaves facade includes a central entrance
sheltered by a Colonial Revival, one-bay, gable-roofed entrance porch. Its
Tuscan colums rise from a concrete deck to support the simplified eaves
entablature; the gable is sheathed with octagonal wood shingles. The two-bay
west gable elevation is bisected by an added exterior brick fireplace chimney.

A one-story, gable-roofed east wing extends two bays on its north eaves
front. A two-bay porch with square posts and two-tier railing shelters the
right entrance. The east wing links to a one-and-one-half story (plus exposed
basement story on the east and south), clapboarded carriage barn with an
asphalt-papered gable roof oriented as an ell. The one-bay north gable front
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has a vehicle entrance on the right below a loft door. A single twelve-over—
twelve sash lights the east eaves elevation.

The house is associated with Nathaniel Niles, who has owned it since
the 1950s.

5. Lawrence Moore House (Upper Main Street); c. 1905

Decorated in a vernacular Queen Anne manner, the Moore House and its next
two neighbors to the west, the Clayton (#6) and Moyer Houses (#7) originally
shared nearly identical appearance. The one-and-one-half story, wood-framed
and mostly clapboarded main block rests on a brick foundation, its asphalt-
shingled gable roof oriented perpendicular to the street and surmounted by a
high interior chimmey. A molded cornice follows the eaves. The window
openings are fitted mostly with two-over-two sash.

The two-bay main (north) gable facade displays most of the house's
ornamental features. The right sidehall entrance is sheltered by a one-bay
porch with turned posts and balustrade, lattice skirt, and flat roof with
molded cornice. The latter continues to the left, crowning the adjacent
rectangular bay window with coupled slender one-over-one sash in the central
panel and clapboarded spandrels. Above the second-story window lintels, the
gable is sheathed with alternating courses of fishscale and rectangular wood
shingles; scroll-sawn stickwork screens the gable peak. The two-bay west
eaves elevation includes a square stairwell window with stained-glass border.

A recessed east ell of reduced scale extends three bays along its north
eaves front with left entrance. A veranda with components like those of the
main entrance porch extends four bays along the north front and continues two
bays across the one-bay east gable elevation.

The house is associated with Lawrence Moore, its owner during the
period 1946-1954.

5A. Barn; c. 1905: Standing atop the steep bank east of the house is a
small one-and-one-half story (plus exposed basement on the south), wood-framed
and clapboarded, gable-roofed barn. The two-bay north gable front has a
carriage entrance on the right whose double-leaf paneled doors are vertically
boarded and diagonally braced; a loft door opens directly above. A stickwork
screen identical to that on the house decorates the gable.

6. Olin Clayton House (Upper Main Street); c. 1905
Also decorated in a vernacular Queen Anne manner, this house originally

shared nearly identical appearance with the adjacent Moore (#5) and Moyer (#7)
Houses on the east and west. The main block continues to match that of the
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Moore House except for certain details. The north entrance porch lacks a
balustrade but its turned posts carry scroll-sawn brackets.

The east ell of this house differs by having a shed-roofed porch that
shelters only three bays (including the off-center entrance) of its four-bay
north eaves front. The porch comprises square posts, screened openings,
clapboarded apron, and lattice skirt.

The house is associated with Olin Clayton, who owned it during the 1920s
and 1930s. .

6A. Garage; c. 1930: Sited east of the house is a one-story, wood-framed
and novelty-sided, gable-roofed (with corrugated metal) garage. The two-bay
north gable front has an open stall on the right and double-leaf, vertically
boarded doors on the left.

6B. Shed; c. 1940: 1 story; wood-framed; clapboarded; shallow gable
roof; pass door on east eaves elevation. Noncontributing owing to age.

7. Laaden Moyer House (Upper Main Street); c. 1905
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